Case No. S239686



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP 1 2 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

STANLEY WILSON, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CABLE NEWS NETWORK, INC. et al., Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division 1, Case No. B264944 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC559720 (Hon. Mel Red Recana)

RESPONDENTS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MITCHELL SILBERBERG & KNUPP LLP
*ADAM LEVIN (SBN 156773), axl@msk.com
JOLENE KONNERSMAN (SBN 217574), jrk@msk.com
CHRISTOPHER A. ELLIOTT (SBN 266226), cae@msk.com
11377 West Olympic Boulevard
Los Angeles, CA 90064-1683
Telephone: (310) 312-2000

ISSUES TO BE BRIEFED

- (1) Under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, is the employer's alleged discriminatory motive for terminating the plaintiff employee irrelevant (as held by the Second Appellate District, Division 7 and Fourth Appellate District, Division 2)?
- (2) Under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, must the defendant demonstrate that the plaintiff had "name recognition" or was "otherwise 'in the public eye?"

II

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For mainstream news organizations like CNN, a reputation for journalistic ethics is at the core of their First Amendment mission to truthfully and reliably report the news. This is particularly true at present when news organizations face daily public attacks concerning the accuracy of their reporting, the integrity of their journalists and even the authenticity of their medium.

These concerns lie at the heart of the present matter. Here, in an exercise of its editorial judgment, CNN terminated the employment of plaintiff and appellant Stanley Wilson ("Wilson" or "Plaintiff"), a news

producer who admitted to plagiarizing a story from the Los Angeles Times and submitting it for publication on CNN.com as his own work. In his lawsuit, Wilson retaliated against CNN for exercising its editorial discretion to refrain from allowing him to write news stories published on its website and seen by millions of viewers worldwide. Such challenges to the First Amendment rights of the press should be dealt with at the earliest opportunity to avoid chilling protected speech. (*See Lyle v. Warner Bros. Television* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 264, 300 (hereafter *Lyle*) ["Indeed, cases like this, arising in a creative context, often can and should be decided on demurrer. Because even the taking of depositions could significantly chill the creative process, by destroying the mutual trust and confidentiality necessary to writing television shows like Friends, courts should independently review the allegations to ensure that First Amendment rights are not being violated."] (conc. opn. of Chin, J.) (citations omitted).)

California's anti-SLAPP statute provides a tool for challenging attacks on protected speech at their inception. Until very recently, the Courts of Appeal had applied the statute to employment discrimination claims with little controversy. (See e.g., Hunter v. CBS Broadcasting Inc. (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1510 (hereafter Hunter); Tuszynska v. Cunningham (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 257 (hereafter Tuszynska).) The decision of the Court of Appeal below rejecting this precedent is a radical departure from

settled law, and would make this critical tool unavailable to California employers faced with claims of discrimination, retaliation and harassment when trying to protect their First Amendment rights.

This is of particular concern to news organizations—like CNN—that are in the business of disseminating speech and are held to high ethical standards by themselves and the public. The public's trust in a news organization can easily be damaged by the errant conduct of a news reporter or producer. As a result, news organizations must make difficult editorial decisions about who will write its news stories and who will not. Challenges to such editorial decisions present important constitutional issues involving freedom of speech and the press, and the anti-SLAPP statute affords a critical protection against lawsuits filed in retaliation for the exercise of constitutionally protected rights.

The Court of Appeal in this case held that the mere allegation of a discriminatory or retaliatory *motive* is sufficient to take a case outside the protections of the anti-SLAPP statue, regardless of the nature of the *conduct* in which those motivations manifested themselves. (*Wilson v. Cable News Network, Inc.* (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 822, 833-37 (hereafter *Wilson*).) The Court of Appeal's ruling creates by judicial fiat a wholesale exception to the anti-SLAPP statute for all claims of employment discrimination or retaliation.

The Court of Appeal's ruling directly conflicts with the plain terms of the statute which contains no exception for employment discrimination or retaliation claims, prior holdings of this Court, decisions of other Courts of Appeal, applicable legislative history and public policy. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Court of Appeal's Order.

The Court of Appeal's Order suffers from an additional defect. The Court of Appeal misread the anti-SLAPP statute and applied an unprecedented test for determining whether the acts underlying the plaintiff's claims were "in connection with" an "issue of public interest." The Court of Appeal mistakenly focused on whether Wilson was a figure "in the public eye" or a "celebrity," when the correct focus should have been on whether a public interest existed that was *connected to* CNN's alleged defamatory communication that Wilson had plagiarized. The statute does not require that the plaintiff be "of public interest;" it requires only that the alleged speech furthering act be "in connection with ... an issue of public interest."

Here, the challenged act is a discussion between CNN management about Wilson's plagiarism in connection with a story about renowned Los Angeles County Sherriff Lee Baca (which he claims was defamatory) which undeniably is in connection with the public interest in news reporting generally, and journalistic ethics and accuracy of news reporting in

particular. Put differently, plagiarism is a form of dishonesty that is inextricably linked to a news organization's public reputation.

Accordingly, CNN satisfied its burden under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute. Because the Court of Appeal never reached the second prong of the analysis, the Order should be reversed and the matter remanded for consideration of the second prong under which Wilson must demonstrate a probability of prevailing on the merits.

Ш

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews de novo the grant or denial of an anti-SLAPP motion. (*Park v. Board of Trustees of California State University* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1057, 1067 (hereafter *Park*).) The Court "exercise[s] independent judgment in determining whether, based on our own review of the record, the challenged claims arise from protected activity. In addition to the pleadings, [the Court] may consider affidavits concerning the facts upon which liability is based. [The Court does] not, however, weigh the evidence, but accept[s] the plaintiff's submissions as true and consider[s] only whether any contrary evidence from the defendant establishes its entitlement to prevail as a matter of law." (*Id.* (citations omitted).)

IV

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Wilson's Employment as a News Producer for CNN and CNN.com.

Defendant and Respondent CNN is one of the world's most influential sources for news and information, and is ranked among the most trusted news organizations in the world. (Volume 1 of Appellant's Appendix in Lieu of Clerk's Transcript p. 107:11-15.)¹ CNN's online arm is CNN.com. (V1AA/107:22-26.) CNN.com attracts 7-9 million unique domestic visitors daily, and from 50-60 million page views globally. (V1AA/107:27-108:1.)

According to Wilson's Declaration, he began his employment with CNN in 1996. (V2AA/346:21-347:2.) During his tenure at CNN, Wilson produced a wide range of high profile news stories that were published under his by-line, including "investigative reports," "live remote coverage," "breaking news, political coverage, and documentary programs" across the nation. (V2AA/347:3-12.) Wilson has "written approximately 200 articles for publication while at CNN" (V2AA/359:18.) Wilson "contributed to

¹ Hereafter, citations to Appellant's Appendix will be cited as (V Number AA/pg/line).

CNN.com with original stories, breaking news and companion pieces to support reporter packages." (V2AA/347:17-18.) Wilson also produced field coverage for Election 2000, two highly rated news documentaries, and other stories covering breaking national and international news.

(V2AA/347:3-26.) According to his declaration, Wilson was publicly recognized with "more than two dozen journalism awards for breaking news, investigative reporting, and documentary programming, including Emmy Awards for coverage of Election 2012, Election 2008, and the September 11, 2011 terrorist attacks" among other awards.

(V2AA/348:1-6.)

B. <u>CNN's Process For Assigning News Reporting And Its</u> <u>Editorial Decisions Regarding Publication</u>

CNN continuously exercises editorial choices to decide what is newsworthy and warrants reporting and who should report on those matters. (V1AA/108:5-6.) In addition, CNN continuously exercises editorial discretion in determining the depth and scope of coverage, what to post to CNN.com, the timing of when articles appear, where the articles appear, and what visual material accompanies them. (V1AA/108:6-9.) These choices fundamentally and intentionally shape the message and content of CNN's communications to its audience. (V1AA/108:9-10.)

News stories on CNN.com are often written by "field producers," like Wilson. (V1AA/61:10-12.) Because the public's perception of a news story—including public confidence in its accuracy—is shaped, in part, by the producer who wrote the story, field producers' reputations, credibility and journalistic ethics are also factors considered by CNN in making employment decisions. (V1AA/61:13-16.)

Like most major news organizations, CNN does not permit plagiarism (i.e., copying text from a story written by another without giving attribution to the original author). (V1AA/64:20-21.) Employees who commit plagiarism will be subject to discipline up to and including termination. (V1AA/64:22.) The accuracy and originality of field producer's research and writing directly impacts the public's perception of the credibility of news and information published by CNN and its trust in CNN as a news reporting agency. (V1AA/64:24-27.)

C. Wilson's Termination For Plagiarism

On or about January 7, 2014, CNN determined that a story submitted by Wilson for publication on CNN.com concerning the retirement of Los Angeles County Sheriff Lee Baca contained substantial material that had been copied verbatim from a story published that same day in the Los Angeles Times, without attribution. (V1AA/62:3-7, V1AA/65:10-13.) The

CNN Digital copy editor that made this discovery, Cathy Straight, recommended that CNN not publish Wilson's article about Sheriff Baca's retirement announcement and that CNN do an audit of Wilson's prior work. (V1AA/62:7-8, V1AA/65:10-16, V1AA/69-71.)

Wilson submitted a written statement to CNN's Human Resources Manager, Dina Zaki, in which he tried to justify and explain his actions in submitting the Sheriff Baca story—which he admitted contained "inserted passages from another source"—as "accidental," and a "mistake" but nevertheless admitted that he had "exercise[ed] poor judgment" and "violated good journalistic principles," and that the plagiarism was solely his "fault." (V1AA/110:13-26, V1AA/113-117.) Subsequently, CNN audited a sampling of Wilson's previous stories and discovered numerous additional instances of plagiarism, raising serious doubts about Wilson's claim of "accident." (V1AA/65:17-66:27, V1AA/73-105.) Based upon the findings of the investigation, CNN terminated Wilson's employment. (V1AA/62:12-16, V1AA/110:27-28.)

D. <u>Wilson's Superior Court Complaint.</u>

On October 6, 2014, Wilson filed his Complaint asserting seven causes of action. (V1AA/1-25.)

Wilson's first and second causes of action for discrimination and retaliation in violation of the Fair Employment and Housing Act ("FEHA") and his third cause of action for retaliation in violation of the California Family Rights Act ("CFRA") are based on (1) CNN's decision not to hire Wilson into other story producer positions at CNN (V1AA/8:2-3); (2) CNN's decision to issue Wilson a written warning for "violating CNN['s] single-sourcing policy" (V1AA/8:13-14); (3) CNN's promotion of another reporter, Jack Hannah, to the position of producer (V1AA/9:15-20); (4) CNN's decision to have Hannah report on "high profile field assignments" (V1AA/9:23-28); (5) CNN's decision to have Wilson do writing assignments in connection with "in-house packaging and fill-in work" (V1AA/9:23-28); (6) CNN's selection of another reporter for a White House reporting position (V1AA/10:14-18); (7) CNN's story editing process (V1AA/10:19-22, V1AA/10:23-24); (8) CNN's decision not to publish Wilson's story about the retirement of Sherriff Lee Baca after it had concerns that the story "appeared too similar to another story" (V1AA/10:19-22, V1AA/10:25-27); (9) CNN's audit of Wilson's work (V1AA/11:7-9); and (10) CNN's termination of Wilson for violating CNN's editorial standards (V1AA/11:10-14). (See also V1AA/14:3-5, V1AA/15:15-17, V1AA/17:9-11.)

Wilson's fourth, fifth and sixth causes of action for failure to prevent discrimination and retaliation in violation of FEHA, wrongful termination in violation of public policy and declaratory judgment, respectively, are all based on the same alleged acts of discrimination and retaliation.

(V1AA/18:8-13, V1AA/18:14-15; V1AA/19:23-26; V1AA/21:25-22:6.)

Wilson's seventh cause of action for defamation is based on CNN's alleged statements at the time of his termination about Wilson's plagiarism and violation of CNN's standards and policies. (V1AA/23:7-10.).

E. <u>The Superior Court's Order Granting Defendants' Anti-</u> SLAPP Motion.

On January 12, 2015, CNN filed a special motion to strike Wilson's Complaint under Code of Civil Procedure Section 425.16, California's "anti-SLAPP statute. (V1AA/36-58).

After oral argument on April 14, 2015, the Superior Court granted CNN's anti-SLAPP motion, and dismissed the case on April 20, 2015. (V5AA/1195-1208.) Wilson subsequently filed an appeal. (V5AA/1227-1228.)

F. The Court of Appeal's Split Opinion.

In a 2-1 decision, the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order over a strong dissent by Presiding Justice Frances Rothschild. As to the first through sixth causes of action (alleging discrimination, retaliation, wrongful termination in violation of public policy, and failure to prevent discrimination, retaliation, and harassment), the split Court determined that "the discrimination and retaliation [Wilson] has alleged are not acts in furtherance of defendants' free speech rights." (*Wilson*, *supra*, 6 Cal.App.5th at p. 834.) The Court of Appeal found that:

[T]he gravamen of plaintiff's employment-related causes of action was defendants' allegedly discriminatory and retaliatory conduct against him, not the particular manifestations of the discrimination and retaliation, such as denying promotions, assigning him menial tasks, and firing him. (*Id.* at 836.)

In reaching this conclusion, the majority expressly declined to follow the rulings of the Second Appellate District in *Hunter v. CBS Broadcasting Inc.* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 1510, and the Fourth Appellate District in *Tuszynska v. Cunningham* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 257. The majority described these cases as adopting the "erroneous view that discrimination is merely a motive and the erroneous principle ... that a defendant's motives are always irrelevant to a determination of whether the defendant's acts were in furtherance of its free speech or petitioning rights." (*Wilson, supra*,

6 Cal.App.5th at p. 836.) The majority thereby created a split amongst the Courts of Appeal, and also misread *Hunter* and *Tuszynska*.

The Court of Appeal went on to apply its erroneous interpretation of the anti-SLAPP statute and found that "where plaintiff does not allege an employment contract and was employed by a private corporation, not a governmental entity, the only reason the defendants' failure to promote and firing of plaintiff are actionable is that they were allegedly acts of discrimination and retaliation." (*Wilson*, *supra*, 6 Cal.App.5th at p. 835.) Therefore, it concluded:

Absent these "motivations," Wilson's employment-related claims would not state a cause of action and defendants no doubt would have demurred, not filed an answer and anti-SLAPP motion. Discrimination and retaliation are not simply motivations for defendants' conduct, they *are* the defendants' conduct. (*Ibid.*)

Next, as to Wilson's defamation cause of action, the Court of Appeal determined that there was "no connection between the defendants' allegedly defamatory statements about plaintiff and a public issue or issue of public interest." (*Wilson*, *supra*, 6 Cal.App.5th at p. 837.) The majority (wrongly) emphasized that "the record does not show that plaintiff was a person in the public eye," distinguishing him from the "local celebrities" in *Hunter* or a widely-known anchor. (*Ibid.*) The majority further concluded that the allegedly defamatory statements "did not involve conduct that could affect large numbers of people beyond the direct participants," and

was not "so grave and scandalous to make it a topic of widespread public interest." (*Id.* at p. 838-39 fn. 4.) The majority rejected arguments that the public's interest in the story Wilson plagiarized was relevant, concluding instead that the "allegedly defamatory statement to the effect that plaintiff plagiarized passages in the Baca article in no way contributed to public debate regarding Baca's retirement." (*Id.* at p. 839.)

Presiding Justice Rothschild dissented. Following *Hunter*, Justice Rothschild reviewed the evidence and concluded that "Wilson had a significant role in shaping and reporting the news." (Wilson, supra, 6 Cal.App.5th at p. 842.) Therefore, "if the employment decision of hiring a weather anchor in *Hunter* 'qualifies as an act in furtherance of the exercise of free speech,' so do the employment decisions concerning the work of a CNN news producer such as Wilson." (*Ibid.*). Justice Rothschild noted the factual differences between this case and Nam, and wrote that the majority, and the court in *Nam*, made the error of "conflat[ing] the first prong analysis, in which the court determines whether the alleged injuryproducing act was in furtherance of the defendant's right of petition or free speech, and the second prong analysis, which consider the merits of the cause of action. By considering the merits of whether the defendant's acts were unlawful—i.e., whether they were discriminatory, harassing, or retaliatory—the court 'confuse[d] the threshold question of whether the

SLAPP statute applies with the question whether [the plaintiff] has established a probability of success on the merits." (*Id.* at p. 843 (quoting *Fox Searchlight Pictures, Inc. v. Paladino* (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 294, 305).)

The dissent also criticized the majority's holding that Wilson's claims did not involve a matter of public interest. Again citing *Hunter*, the dissent wrote "[t]he subjects of Wilson's body of work with CNN undeniably concern matters that are of interest to the public as much or more than local reports of the weather." (*Wilson*, *supra*, 6 Cal.App.5th at p. 845.) Noting the majority's focus on whether Wilson was a person in the public eye, the dissent correctly noted that "[t]he public interest issue ... does not turn on whether Wilson is a public celebrity. Regardless of whether the general public is aware of Wilson's name, CNN's actions and statements concerning him—a widely-honored news and documentary producer with one of the world's largest and most respected news organizations—are connected with a matter of public interest." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court. Neither party filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeal.

 \mathbf{V}

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: Under the first prong of the anti-SLAPP statute, is the employer's alleged discriminatory motive for terminating the plaintiff employee irrelevant (as held by the Second Appellate District, Division 7 and Fourth Appellate District, Division 2)?

In order to be covered by California's anti-SLAPP statute, challenged claims must be based on "act[s]" of the defendant "in furtherance" of its" "right of petition or free speech ... in connection with a public issue." (Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16(b)(1).)²

Here, CNN satisfied this requirement because all of Wilson's claims are based on CNN's actions in terminating his employment producing news stories for CNN.com and communicating that decision. CNN exercises its right of free speech through the news stories it publishes to the public, and its decision about who will write those stories is "in furtherance" of that right.

The Court of Appeal below effectively rewrote the statute to exempt all claims for employment discrimination, harassment, or retaliation. Such

² All statutory references are to the California Code of Civil Procedure unless otherwise noted.

an exemption runs contrary to the plain language of the statute, applicable precedent, legislative history and public policy.

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