CASE No. S239686



SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 1 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

STANLEY WILSON,

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

CABLE NEWS NETWORK, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION; CNN AMERICA, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION; TURNER SERVICES, INC., A GEORGIA CORPORATION; TURNER BROADCASTING SYSTEM, INC., A GEORGIA CORPORATION; PETER JANOS, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Defendants, Respondents and Petitioners.

AFTER PUBLISHED COURT OF APPEAL DECISION,
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 1
CASE NO. B264944
LOS ANGELES SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. BC559720
HONORABLE MEL RED RECANA

APPELLANT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Accordingly, the *Wilson* Court's analysis of whether Wilson's alleged claims arose from CNN's conduct in furtherance of its right of free speech is consistent with a long line of decisions, as well as this Court's more recent analysis of these issues in *Park*, *supra*.

C. Wilson Has Created No Exemption from Section 425.16.

CNN argues exhaustively that *Wilson* is contrary to statutory language and extensive case law because it "effectively rewrote the statute to exempt all claims for employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation." (CNN-Brief, p. 24.)

⁵ CNN does not explain its retreat from its "exemption" argument by later stating that the ruling finds the anti-SLAPP "generally inapplicable" to such claims. (CNN-Brief, pp. 49-50.)

Wilson agrees that no single type of case may be exempted from anti-SLAPP motions - which did not occur here. In those instances where protected activity is alleged as an element the tort (i.e., defamation in an official proceeding or newspaper article), defendant's wrongful motive does not make the anti-SLAPP statute inapplicable. Where protected conduct is not per se alleged, then Courts need to look to whether defendant denied plaintiff a benefit or subjected the plaintiff to a burden because of discriminatory or retaliatory considerations.

Without supporting case-specific analysis, CNN provides its "chart" of cases purportedly addressing claims with proof of motive as an element which were found "subject to the anti-SLAPP statute" but would not be under the *Wilson's* Court's ruling. (CNN-Brief, pp. 25-26.) First, the defamation claim in *Kibler v. Northern Inyo County Hospital Dist.*, (2006) 36 Cal.4th 19, was not found subject to anti-SLAPP statute, as the *Park* case pointed out "we took for granted lower court findings as to what activity the tort claims arose from" and "did not address the arising from issue." (*Park*, at p. 1070.)

Second, in *Navellier*, *supra*, plaintiffs sued for breach of contract and fraud, alleging the defendant had signed a release of claims without any intent to be bound by it and then violated the release by filing counterclaims. The previously filed court claims were an exercise of freedom to petition and were an element of the tort giving rise to liability, so motive would not make SLAPP statute inapplicable.

Third, taking into account defendant's alleged motive when identifying the actions from which plaintiff's intentional infliction of emotional distress claim arose would not have changed the result in *Huntingdon Life Sciences v. Stop Huntingdon Animal Cruelty USA*, (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1228. That is because all claims *alleged* protected activity such as "encouragement of demonstrations against animal testing," which is an exercise of free rights. (*Id.* at p. 1245.) The protected activity was an essential element of the tort as alleged, regardless of motive.

Fourth, in *Gallanis-Politis v. Medina*, (2007) 152 Cal.App.4th 600, an employee sued two County supervisors, alleging they had obstructed her efforts to obtain bilingual bonus pay by conducting a pretextual investigation and preparing a false report, protected conduct requested by counsel for litigation. Considering their alleged retaliatory motive in identifying actionable conduct would not change the fact that "[a]bsent the investigation and report, nothing of substance exists upon which to base a retaliation claim against them." (*Id.* at p. 611.) As alleged in the complaint, the investigation and report were essential elements of the claim, and wrongful motive would not make SLAPP inapplicable.

CNN's "exemption" argument fails to consider whether the free speech or petitioning activity was alleged as an element of the tort, so alleged motives changes would not change specifically alleged acts constituting protected activity. The *Wilson* Court noted that, "defendants' choice of who works as a producer or writer is arguably an act in furtherance of defendants' right of free speech. But this does not mean that defendants' alleged discrimination and retaliation against plaintiff--a long-term, well-reviewed existing employee that CNN had already deemed qualified and acceptable to shape its news reporting--was also an act in furtherance of its speech rights." (*Wilson*, at p. 834.) *Wilson* requires the specific *alleged* facts of the case be considered to determine if prong one is met.

That discrimination suits are unlikely to arise from protected conduct is merely a logical result of a factual analysis. That does not mean discrimination and retaliation suits cannot be protected activities *based upon specific facts alleged*. *Wilson* created no statutory exemption from anti-SLAPP laws.

D. Wilson Is Consistent with Case Law, Including Park.

CNN incorrectly asserts that appellate courts considering defendant's motives, when determining whether the conduct giving rise to the claim is protected conduct, have created an exemption to Section 425.16 and created a split

among the courts. CNN argues that the *Tuszynska* and *Hunter* cases⁶ are the more accurate cases, while *Wilson*, *Nam* and *Bonni v. St. Joseph*, (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 851 (Review Granted 11/1/17, S244148), inaccurately state the law. CNN's position is wrong for several reasons.

First, these cases did not rule that discrimination-related cases are exempted. Second, the disregard of defendant's alleged motivation in determining which actions give rise to plaintiff's claims seen in *Hunter* and *Tuszynska* improperly ignores the activities give rise to the liability. Third, *Park* focuses the analysis on the specific allegations and affirms the reasoning set forth in *Nam* and *Martin*, which is also followed in *Wilson* and *Bonni*.

Decided after *Park*, *Bonni*⁷ involved a surgeon's claim that defendants violated the whistleblower statute by retaliating against him for reporting unsafe and substandard conditions and services at defendants' hospitals regarding robotic surgical-related services by suspending and denying him medical staff privileges after a peer review process. The *Bonni* Court relied upon the reasoning in *Park* and *Nam*, consistently with Mr. Wilson's analysis herein. It concluded plaintiff's retaliation claim "arose from defendants' alleged acts of retaliation against plaintiff because he complained about the robotic surgery facilities at the hospitals, and not from any written or oral statements made during the peer review process or otherwise." (*Bonni*, 13 Cal.App.5th at p. 855.) *Bonni* found, "his claim was *not* based merely on defendant's act of initiating and pursuing the peer review process, or on statements made during those proceedings—but on the retaliatory purpose or motive by which it was undertaken." (*Id.* at p. 863.)

⁶ Without noting that review was granted, CNN improperly relies upon *Daniel v. Wayans*, (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 367 (Review Granted 3/20/2017, S240704). (CNN-Brief, p. 46.) It has no precedential effect. (*Cal. Rules of Court*, rule 8.1115(e)(1).)

⁷ With review granted, *Bonni* has not precedential effect, but CNN addresses the reasoning, so Wilson refers to it only for its persuasive value.

CNN entirely omits *Martin* from its briefing, which found that "[1]iability, if any, would arise from the constructive discharge of the plaintiff *for illegal reasons*, not the defendants' evaluations of the plaintiff at the agency's board meeting." [Emphasis added.] (*Park*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1066, citing *Martin*, 1068 Cal.App.4th at pp. 624-625.) Consistent with *Park*, *Nam*, and *Wilson*, the *Martin* Court considered defendant's alleged discriminatory motive, noting "the pleadings establish that the gravamen of plaintiff's action against defendants was one of racial and retaliatory discrimination." (*Ibid.*, citing *Department of Fair Employment & Housing v. 1105 Alta Loma Road Apartments, LLC* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 1273, 1284, finding the gravamen of complaint was discrimination, not the exercise of defendant's protected speech.)

As addressed in subsection IV.B., *Wilson*, *Nam*, *Martin*, and *Park* are consistent in their consideration of defendant's alleged motive in determining from which conduct the claim arises.

For its opposing position, CNN relies most heavily upon *Hunter*, *supra*, which involved a discrimination suit for failure to hire as a television weather anchor. In *Park* this Court commented on the "position accepted in *Hunter*," which "treats a news media organization's decision as to who shall report the news as an act in furtherance of that protected speech." (*Park*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1071.) The television station in *Hunter* "argued that (1) the station itself engaged in speech on matters of public interest through the broadcast of news and weather reports, and (2) the decision as to who should present that message was thus conduct in furtherance of the station's protected speech on matters of public interest, to wit, its news broadcasts." (*Park* at p. 1072.) *Park* noted that *Hunter* found the proper inquiry to be whether selection of a weather anchor was in connection with a matter of public interest. (*Ibid.*)

Park failed to disclose whether it agreed with Hunter regarding the identification of which activity Hunter's discrimination claim arose from under Section 425.16. Of note, however, this Court commented that Hunter declined "to

consider the significance of the hiring decision itself." (*Park* at p. 1072.) *Park* expressly declined to address whether *Hunter* was correctly decided. (*Ibid*.)

Hunter improperly directed the prong one inquiry to a general topic of interest in who conveys the weather, rather than whether the specific allegedly discriminatory hiring decision on which Hunter based his claim was protected free speech in connection with an issue of public interest. Hunter did not consider "what actions by the defendant supply those elements [of claim] and consequently form the basis for liability." (Park at p. 1063.) Hunter should have considered the specific hiring decision alleged to have been discriminatorily motivated to determine whether the gravamen of the complaint was protected activity.

As noted in a long line of case law, "[t]he fact that 'a broad and amorphous public interest' can be connected to a specific dispute is not sufficient to meet the statutory requirements." (*Dyer v. Childress* (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 1273, 1280.) "Courts have generally rejected attempts to abstractly generalize an issue in order to bring it within the scope of the anti-SLAPP statute." (*Talega Maintenance Corp. v. Standard Pacific Corp.* (2014) 225 Cal.App.4th 722, 733.) "The inquiry must focus on the content of the speech or other conduct on which the cause of action is based, rather than generalities or abstractions." (*City of Industry v. City of Fillmore* (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 191, 217.)

In reliance on *Hunter*, CNN argues a public interest based upon CNN's general role in broadcasting the news. *Hunter*, however, identified the prong one inquiry overly broadly. CNN also cannot genuinely assert that Wilson was a person it was considering hiring like Hunter, that Wilson was the face of their news or that Wilson's claims arose from free speech content. Wilson's job as producer was behind the scenes, and writing for the CNN Wire desk "was a comparatively small percentage of my work by comparison to my television producing." (V2AA/348:8-349:5,360:9-10, having written almost 200 stories over a 14 year period as a producer means he wrote about one internet story a month. (V2AA/348:15-27,359:18-20)) The television weather anchor position at issue in

Hunter is the face of the network communicating the news to the public.

Any connection between Wilson's producer position and CNN's free speech are attenuated and incidental to his claims at best, as the activities forming the basis of his claim were discriminatory conduct over years, with no hiring at issue. In contrast to *Hunter*, the *Wilson* Court correctly looked to the specific allegations from which Wilson's claims arose.

CNN's reasoning suggests all of its newsroom employment decisions are speech related and inseparably intertwined with its long-term employee's discrimination claims. This Court's reasoning in *Park* suggests otherwise, as it lauded the appellate courts who respected the distinction between activities forming the basis of the claim and those merely leading to liability creating activities or providing evidentiary support. (*Park*, 2 Cal.5th at p. 1064.) After unraveling the tenure decision from the protected communications leading up to Park's tenure decision, *Park* disapproved *Tuszynska's* failure to separate a defendant's decision from communications giving rise to it. (*Id.* at pp. 1069-1071.)

CNN improperly suggests that courts should jump to that presumption that defendant's claimed constitutional rights are valid, before identifying whether any protected conduct is implicated. A court first identifies the gravamen of the complaint to determine whether the plaintiff's cause of action was based on an act in furtherance of the defendant's right of free speech. (City of Cotati, 29 Cal.4th at p. 78.) If not, then no presumptions arise. The Wilson Court correctly did this, but CNN suggests that it conflated prongs one and two by looking to the alleged wrongfulness of defendant's actions, which was required in determining the gravamen of the complaint. (CNN-Brief, p. 49, citing Chavez v. Mendoza (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 1083, 1089.8) CNN is attempting to avoid its required "threshold"

⁸ CNN cites to San Diegans for Open Government v. San Diego State University Research Foundation (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 76 (review granted 8/16/17, S242529). (CNN-Brief, p. 49.) It has no precedential effect. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.1115(e)(1).)

showing that the challenged cause of action is one arising from protected activity." (*Equilon Enterprises v. Consumer Causes* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 53, 67.)

Chavez did not indicate otherwise, stating "the defendant has the initial burden to make a prima facie showing that the plaintiff's claims are subject to section 425.16." (Chavez, supra, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 1087.) Chavez involved a malicious prosecution action arising from the defendant's filing of a prior lawsuit against the plaintiffs. Plaintiffs argued that since defendant's unsuccessfully prosecuted claims lacking evidentiary support it indicated no constitutionally protected right. (Id. at pp. 1088-1089.) Since plaintiff had alleged the claim arose from the filing the complaint and "filing a lawsuit is an exercise of a party's constitutional right of petition," regardless of validity of the claim, the appellate court rejected the Chavezes' argument. (Id. at pp. 1087-1089.) No such per se protected activity is alleged in Wilson's complaint here.

In Castleman v. Sagaser, (2013) 216 Cal.App.4th 481, defendant made the same argument as CNN, asserting the court "failed to presume that [defendant's] conduct was protected, and instead (improperly) shifted the burden to [defendant]." (Id. at p. 495.) That argument was rejected. Presumptions of validity did not transform an attorney's alleged breach of fiduciary duty into a claim arising from constitutional petitioning or free speech activity.

In disapproving *Tuszynska's* reliance on communications conveying the termination to find the termination was protected conduct, the *Park* Court's analysis redirects the focus to the conduct alleged to have been discriminatory. It cautions against merely relying upon protected speech incidental to the actionable conduct. The *Tuszynska* Court needed to consider defendant's alleged motive to determine the specific conduct from which the claims arose to determine if they were protected.

Additionally, CNN *incorrectly* cites to *Barry v. State Bar of California*, (2017) 2 Cal.5th 318, as having "affirmed a trial court's order granting anti-SLAPP motion directed to claims" of retaliation and discrimination. (CNN-Brief,

pp. 31-32.) Rather, that court addressed anti-SLAPP attorney's fees awarded when the court lacked jurisdiction over plaintiff's claims; it did not address whether the anti-SLAPP motion was properly granted. (*Id.* at p. 323, fn.2 ["Neither party has contested the trial court's characterization of Barry's complaint, we assume without deciding that the trial court correctly held that all of Barry's claims concerned the State Bar's actions in pursuing discipline against her, and thus both arose from protected petitioning activity..."].)

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